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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA : CRIMINAL NO.
v. :  DATE FILED: April 25, 2013
CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK, : VIOLATIONS:
a/k/a “Gucci Prada,” 18 U.S.C. § 1591 (sex trafficking of
RASHIDAH BRICE, : a minor or by force - 1 count);
a/k/a “Camille,” 18 U.S.C. § 1591 (sex trafficking by
a/l/a :?D.EE : force - 2 counts);

18 U.S.C. § 1594(a) (attempt)
: 18 U.S.C. § 2 (aiding and abetting)

Notice of Forfeiture
~.

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT:

1. At all times material to this indictment, defendants CHRISTIAN DIOR
WOMACK, m\w\m "Gucci Prada,” and RASHIDAH BRICE, a/k/a “Camille,” a/k/a “Milly,” were
the operators of a prostitution venture in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and elsewhere.

2. As part of this venture, defendants CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK, a/k/a
"Gueci Prada,” and RASHIDAH BRICE, a/k/a “Camille,” a/k/a “Milly,” recruited young females
to work as prostitutes for them. Defendants CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK, a/k/a "Guceel
Prada,” and RASHIDAH BRICE, a/k/a “Camille,” a/l/a “Milly,” o:Mmmoa.ws acts of physical
violence and threats of physical hanm to maintain the participation of females in their prostitution
business.

. 3. As part of this venture, defendants CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK, a‘k/a

"Gueci Prada,” and RASHIDAH BRICE, a/k/a “Camille,” a/k/a “Milly,” created Internet



advertisements in which they advertised these females as available for purchase for purposes of
E.o.maﬁcmou. The advertisements featured pictures of the females scantily clad, and provided a
phone number to call to arrange a meeting with the females.
4. Between on or about May 25, 2012, through on or about June 11,2012, in
the Bastern District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, defendant
CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK,
a/k/a “Gucci Prada,” and
RASHIDAH BRICE,
a/l/a “Camille,”
a/k/a “Milly,”
in and affecting interstate commerce, knowingly recruited, enticed, harbored, transported,
provided, obtained, and maintained Minor 1, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, and
benefitted financially from participation in a venture which engaged in the knowing recruitment,
enticement, harboring, transporting, providing, obtaining, and maintaining of Minor 1, and
attempted to do so. At the time that defendants CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK and
RASHIDAH BRICE did this, they knew and acted in reckless disregard of the fact that Minor 1
had not reached the age of 18 and would be caused to engage in commercial sex acts, and that
force, threats of force, fraud, coercion, and any combination of such means would be used to

cause Minor 1 to engage in commercial sex acts.

In violation of Title Hm..Cum& States Code, Sections 1591 and 1594(a).



COUNT TWO

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

1. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 3 of Count One are incorporated
by reference.

2. Between on or about June 26, 2012, through on or about July 2, 2012,
in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, defendant

CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK,
a/kfa “Gucci Prada,” and
RASHIDAH BRICE,
a/k/a “Camille,”
a/k/a “Milly,”

in and affecting interstate commerce, knowingly %883& fo 802.:. entice, harbor, transport,
provide, obtain, and maintain Person 2, whose identity is known to the Grand Hc..Q. and attempted
to benefit financially from participation in a venture which sngaged in the knowing recrizitment,
enticernent, harboring, transporting, providing, obtaining, and maintaining of Person 2. Atthe
time that defendants CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK and RASHIDAH BRICE did this, they
knew and acted in reckless disregard of the fact that force, threats of force, fraud, 8.2&0? and
any combination of such means would be used to attempt to cause Person 2 to mb@mma in

commercial sex acts.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1591 and 1594(a).



COUNT THREE

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:

1. The allegations of Paragraphs 1 through 3 of Count One are incorporated

by reference.

v

2, Between on or about mngdw_% 1, 2013, through on or about February 3,
2013, in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania and elsewhere, defendant
CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK,
a/k/a “Gucci Prada,” and
RASHIDAH BRICE,
a/lk/a “Cammille,”
a/k/a “Milly,”
in and affecting interstate commerce, knowingly attempted to recruit, entice, harbor, transport,
provide, obtain, and maintain Person 3, whose identity is known to the Grand Jury, and attempted
to benefit financially from participation in a venture which engaged in the knowing recruitment,
enticement, harboring, transporting, providing, obtaining, and maintaining of Person 3. At the
time that defendants CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK and RASHIDAH BRICE did this, they
knew and acted in reckless disregard of the fact that force, threats of force, fraud, coercion, and
any combination of such means would be used to attempt to cause Person 3 to engage in

commercial sex acls.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1591 and 1594(a).



NOTICE OF FORFEITURE

THE GRAND JURY FURTHER CHARGES THAT:
1. As a result of the violations of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1591,
set forth in this Indictment, defendants
CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK,
a/k/a “Gucci Prada,” and
RASHIDAH BRICE,
a/k/a “Camille,”
a/k/a “Milly,”
shall forfeit to the United States of America:
(a) any property, real or personal, used or intended to be used to
commit, or to facilitate the commission of such violations; and
(b) any property, real or personal, constituting or derived from, any
proceeds obtained directly or indirectly as a result of such viclations.
2. If any of the property subject to forfeiture, as a result of any act or
omission of the defendant:
(a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;
(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;
(d) has been substantially diminished in value; or

(e) has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided

without difficulty;
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA v. CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK, a/k/a Gucci Prada Christian
Womack, Appellant
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE THIRD CIRCUIT
646 Fed. Appx. 258; 2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 6334
No. 14-4787
March 4, 2016, Submitted Under Third Circuit L.A.R. 34.1(a)
April 7, 2016, Filed

Notice:

NOT PRECEDENTIAL OPINION UNDER THIRD CIRCUIT INTERNAL OPERATING PROCEDURE
RULE 5.7. SUCH OPINIONS ARE NOT REGARDED AS PRECEDENTS WHICH BIND THE
COURT.PLEASE REFER TO FEDERAL RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE RULE 32.1
GOVERNING THE CITATION TO UNPUBLISHED OPINIONS.

Editorial Information: Subsequent History

US Supreme Court certiorari denied by Womack v. United States, 580 U.S. 1013, 137 S. Ct. 530, 196 L.
Ed. 2d 430, 2016 U.S. LEXIS 6936, 2016 WL 6269076 (Nov. 28, 2016)US Supreme Court certiorari
denied by Womack v. United States, 580 U.S. 1010, 137 S. Ct. 521, 196 L. Ed. 2d 424, 2016 U.S. LEXIS
6999, 2016 WL 6037103 (Nov. 28, 2016)Petition denied by, Without prejudice In re Womack, 791 Fed.
Appx. 368, 2020 U.S. App. LEXIS 2798, 2020 WL 429076 (3d Cir. Pa., Jan. 28, 2020)Petition denied by
In re Womack, 828 Fed. Appx. 852, 2020 U.S. App. LEXIS 35847, 2020 WL 6708593 (3d Cir. Pa., Nov.
16, 2020)Petition denied by In re Womack, 839 Fed. Appx. 768, 2021 U.S. App. LEXIS 7543, 2021 WL
979255 (3d Cir. Pa., Mar. 16, 2021)Motion denied by United States v. Womack, 2022 U.S. App. LEXIS
36476 (3d Cir., Oct. 7, 2022)

Editorial Information: Prior History

{2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 1}On Appeal from the United States District Court for the Eastern District of
Pennsylvania. (D.C. No. 2-13-cr-00206-001). District Judge: Honorable Mitchell S. Goldberg.In re
Womack, 606 Fed. Appx. 638, 2015 U.S. App. LEXIS 9393, 2015 WL 3514707 (3d Cir. Pa., June 5,
2015)

Counsel For UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff - Appellee: Michelle
Morgan, Esq., Melanie B. Wilmoth, Esq., Office of United States Attorney, Philadelphia, PA.
For CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK, a/k/a Gucci- Prada
(#69121-066), Defendant - Appellant: Matthew Stiegler, Esq., Philadelphia, PA.
Judges: Before: McKEE, Chief Judge, SMITH, and HARDIMAN, Circuit Judges. :

CASE SUMMARYDistrict court's statements about its reluctance to impose a life sentence did not

~ establish that the district court lacked an understanding of its authority to vary below the USSG range;
the district court knew that the Guidelines were advisory, applied the 18 U.S.C.S. § 3553(a) factors, and
imposed a sentence it deemed appropriate.

OVERVIEW: HOLDINGS: [1]-When a district court's statements about its reluctance to impose a life
sentence were considered in context, they did not establish that the district court lacked an
understanding about its authority to vary below the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines range. The district court
knew that the Guidelines were advisory, applied the 18 U.S.C.S. § 3553(a) factors, and imposed a

03CASES 1
© 2024 Matthew Bender & Company, Inc., 2 member of the LexisNexis Group. All rights reserved. Use of this product is subject to the restrictions
and terms and conditions of the Matthew Bender Master Agreement.
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order by Petitioner is pending before the Third Circuit Court of Appeals. Id.,
Docs. 419, 420. Petitioner’s motion is seeking a stay of this habeas matter pending
the resolution of this appeal. (Docs. 8, 9.) Because the court finds that it lacks
jurisdiction in this § 2241 pétition, it will deny the pending motion to stay the
proceedings.

DISCUSSION

This matter is before the court for screening pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2243.
The § 2241 petition has been given preliminary consideration pursuant to Rule 4 of
the Rules Governing Section 2254 Cases in the United States District Courts, 28
U.S.C. § 2254 (applicable to § 2241 petitions under Rule 1(b)). Rule 4 may be
applied at the discretion of the district court as it is the duty of the court to screen
out frivolous appIications and eliminate the burden that would be placed on the
respondent by ordering an unnecessary answer. Allen v. Perini, 424 F.2d 134, 141
(6th Cir. 1970). Here, the court finds that it lacks jurisdiction and ordering an
answer would be unnecessary. Therefore, the court will dismiss the petition.

A habeas petition brought pursuant to § 2241 is the proper vehicle for an
inmate to challenge “the fact or length of confinement” or the “execution” of the
confinement. Preiser v. Rodriguez, 411 U.S. 475, 494 (1973); Woodall v. Fed.
Bureau of Prisons, 432 F.3d 235, 241-42 (3d Cir. 2005). In determining whether

the court has jurisdiction over the claims in a § 2241 petition, the court must



consider whether granting the petition would “necessarily imply” a change to the
fact, duration, or execution of the petitioner’s sentence. Mabry v. Warden
Allenwood FCI Low, 747 F. App'x 918, 919 (3d Cir. 2019) (quoting McGee v.
Martinez, 627 F.3d 933,936 (3d Cir. 2010)). Here, Petitioner is challenging
something other than the fact or length of his confinement. His petitioﬁ amounts to
a collateral attack on his judgment of conviction and sentence. (Doc.7.) As such,
this claim is not within the core or traditional scope of habeas corpus petitions
pursuant to § 2241.

Federal prisoners seeking post-conviction relief from their judgment of
convictioﬁ, or the sentence imposed, are generally required to bring such
challenges by way of 28 U.S.C. § 2255. See 28 U.S.C. § 2255. The Third Circuit
has stated that “tm]otions pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2255 are the presumptive means
by which federal prisoners can challenge their convictions or sentences that are
allegedly in violation of the Constitution.” See Okereke v. United States, 307 F.3d
117, 120 (3d Cir. 2002) (citing Davis v. United States, 417 U.S. 333, 343 (1974)).

Section 2255 provides, in relevant part, as follows:

(a) A prisoner in custody under sentence of a court established by Act

of Congress claiming the right to be released upon the ground that the

sentence was imposed in violation of the Constitution or laws of the

United States, or that the court was without jurisdiction to impose such

sentence, or that the sentence was in excess of the maximum authorized

by law, or is otherwise subject to collateral attack, may move the court
which imposed the sentence to vacate, set aside or correct the sentence.
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(e) An application for a writ of habeas corpus on behalf of a prisoner

who is authorized to apply for relief by motion pursuant to this section,

shall not be entertained if it appears that the applicant has failed to apply

for relief, by motion, to the court which sentenced him, or that such

court has denied relief, unless it also appears that the remedy by motion

is inadequate or ineffective to test the legality of his detention.
See 28 U.S.C. § 2255. Subsection () is commonly referred to as the “saving
clause,” and has historically been viewed as a legal basis to file a § 2241 petition to
collaterally attack a judgment following an unsuccessful § 2255 petition, as
Petitioner is attempting to do here. However, the Supreme Court has recently held
that the savings clause is reserved for exceedingly rare situations where it is
“impossible or impracticable to seek relief in the sentencing court,” such as when
the sentencing court dissolves or when the prisoner is unable to be present at a
necessary hearing. Jones v. Hendrix, 599 U.S. 465, 478 (2023). Here, Petitioner is
in the midst of seeking relief from the sentencing court as evidenced by his recent
appeal.

Accordingly, pursuant to Jones, Petitioner cannot challenge his sentence by
way of a § 2241 petition in this court. Accordingly, the court must dismiss the

petition for lack of jurisdiction pursuaﬁt to § 2255(e). All pending motions will be

denied as moot.



CONCLUSION

ACCORDINGLY, on this 4th day of June 2024, IT IS HEREBY
ORDERED THAT:

1. The amended petition, Doc. 7, is DISMISSED without prejudice to
Petitioner’s right to pursue appropriate relief in the sentencing court.

2. Petitioner’s motion to stay the proceedings, Doc. 8, is DENIED as
moot.

3. The Clerk of the Court is directed to CLLOSE the case.

s/Jennifer P. Wilson
JENNIFER P. WILSON

United States District Judge
Middle District of Pennsylvania
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Case 2:13-¢r-00206-MSG  Document 418 Filed 04/17/24 Page 1 of 1

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff, Criminal Action
" No. 13-cr-206-1
CHRISTIAN DIOR WOMACK,
Defendant.
ORDER

AND NOW, this 17" day of April, 2024, it is hereby ORDERED that Defendant Christian
Dior Womack’s “motion to coned clerical errors within criminal judgment” (ECF No. 417), to
which no opposition was filed, is GRANTED. Pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure
36, the December 18, 2024 judgment as to Christ.ian Dior Womack (ECF No. 171) is amended on
“‘Sheet 1” as follows: the “Title & Section” for Counts 2 and 3 is amended to read “18:1591 and

1594(a).”
BY THE COURT:

/s/ Mitchell S. Goldberg
MITCHELL S. GOLDBERG, J.




Additional material
from this filing is
avallable in the

o Clerk’s Office.



